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IN THE COMMON PLEAS COURT OF CRAWFORD COUNTY, OHIO

STATEOFOHIO, - 1
Plaintiff, + - CaseNo. 94-CR-0042
-V5, - H . '
o JUDGMENT ENTRY
KEVIN A. KEITH, - ©
Defendant. :

This matter com'es before the Court upon Defendaﬁfe Moﬁon‘for Leave_ to File Delayed

| Motion for New Tria! filed October 28, 2016. Up‘or) review of the metter herein, the Cour;c finds

that the Motion for New Triai was aiso fi Ie-etamped on October 28, 2016. This was doné in

| error by the Clerk of Courts. The motion cannot be deemed to have been filed until the

Court grants the Defendartt leave to file such motipn. As a result, the Court hereby aliows the

State of C_Jhid fourteen’ (14) days from the date of this entry to file a response to Defendant’s
OctoBer 28, 2016 Motion for Leave to File _Delayed Motion for New Trial.

IT SO SO ORDERED.

/Zwé

A -~ Sean E. Leuthold Judge

* Copies to; '
Matthew E. Crali, Esq & Ryan M Hoovier, Esq - Counsel for State of Qhio

- .~Rachel Troutman, Esq. — Counsel for Defendant
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IN THE COMMON PLEAS COURT OF CRAWFORD COUNTY, OHIO

| | CRIMINAL DIVISION
- STATE OF OHIO, i CASENO.%-CRA0042.
| - Plaintiff, | ‘ Do
HON. JUDGE LEUTHOLD
V. . .
KEVIN A. Kmn“ﬁ, S : . JUDGMENT ENTRY
Defendant. o

This matter comes bcfore this honorable Court upon defendant’s Mottan ﬁJr Leave to F:le
Delayed Motion Jor New Trial Based on Newly Discovered Ev;dence In order to rule upon thlS
matter, the Court reviewed the foJ_IOng _ '
1. Motion for Leave to File Delayed Motion for New Trial Based on Newly Dz’scm':ered ‘
Evzdence ﬁled on October 28, 2016.

2. Motion Opposzng Leave to File Delayed Motion for New Trial - ﬁlcd by the. State on
November 14, 2016;

3. Reply to Memorandum in _Oppasifion fa Mérion for Leave to File Delayed Motion for

New Trial — filed by defendant on November 21, 2016;
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4, Motion to Sypplement Motion for Leave to File Delayed Motion for New Trial and
Successor Petition for Post-Conviction Relief Under R.C. §2933.23 — filed by
defendsnt on November 21, 2016.

5. Deposition transeript of G. Michelle Yezzo.

OHIO RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE

In order to determine if the defendant’s motion for a new trial may be granted, we must
' first look to Rule 33 of the Ohio Rules of Criminal Procedure, which states in pertinent part: )

“(A) Grounds. A new trial may be granted on motion of the ‘
" defendant for any of the followmg causes affectlng materially his
substantial rights; ...,

(6)  When new evidence material to the defense is discovered
which the defendant coild not with reasonable diligence have -
discovered and produced at trial, ..... ” -

Tn addition:

(B) ... Motion for new trial on account of newly discovered
evidence shall be filed within one hundred twenty days after the
day upon which the verdict was rendered, or the decision of the
~ court where trial by jury has been waived. Ifit is made to appear

- by clear and convincing proof that the defendant was unavoidably
prevented from the discovery of the evidence upon which he must
rely, such motion shall be filed within seven days from an order of
the court finding that he was unavoidably prevented from
discovering the ev1dence within the one hundred twenty day
penod ' :

BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS

In this case the “newly discovered” evidence at issue mvolves the State’s forens1c expert
G. Michelle Yezzo The defendant alleges that Yezzo, a forensw analyst with the Oth Bureau -

of Criminal Inve_sn_gatlon, was an important witness in the case agamst him. Specifically, the
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defendant contends that Yezzo’s testimony provided the link between the defendant and the
crime scene.

The defendant was convicted of numerous chargesby a Crawford County jury in May of

1994, Now, more tban 22 years later, the defendant a:gues that Yezz.;_o’s emj;;leyment personnel -

flle co.ntains newly discovered evidence that could have been used to undermine her credibility af: '
trial. The Court will not list 511 of ﬁe infom_'lation contained in the persqnnel file. I-Ioﬁever, the
most severe accusations include: | | |
1. Yezzo was mentally unstable;

2. Yezzo had areputation of g'!ving police departinents the answer they want;

3. Yezzowas willing to stretch the truth in performing Eer analysis.

The defendant argues that he had no knowledge of the mformanon in Yezzo’s persormel
file unt11 January of 2016 This mformatmn was allegedly obtamed from an attomey involved in
another case involving Yezzo. The defendant further argues that because the State did not |

prowde the defendant with ﬂ:us mformatxon prior to trial, the State faﬂed to comply with its

_ obhgatmns under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Brady, of course, requlres the Stateto

prov1de the defense with all exculpatory ev1dence

In response, the State. argues that Bradyviolations only apply to ev1dence that is material

to guilt or punishment. Stare v. Coleman, 2005 WL 1797040 (2"-Dist.). Further, the State

contends that in order for a Brady violation to occur three components must be shown, Those

include:
1. The evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, either because it is

- exculpatory, or becanse it is impeaching;
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2.- That evidence must have been suppressed bf/ the State, either willfully or
inadvertently, . |
- 3. And prejudice must have ensued. Strickler v. Grelen, 5270.S. 263-(1999).

The State argﬁes that the accusations against Yezzo, are non-material and of little
importance to the ‘c;ése. In fact, the State c‘oﬁtends that these allcggtipﬁs were made by c;o-
_wakers duriﬁé the investigation of a T.mioﬁ grievance. Further, the Staic points out that the
accusations against Y;azzo were uﬁs_ubstantia’tcd and resulted in no discipiinary aqﬁon. Finally, .
the State argues that there isrno evideﬁce that any of these complaints represented tﬁe actual |
oéiniori of the Bureau of Criminal Investigations. ’

" . The State also put forth numerous pérformance.eValuations for Yezzo. Again, the Cou_ft
will nﬁt list all of the infoxmation contained in those evaluations. Howevér, the evaluations
i]_'mlude the following assertions:

R 1. Yezzo’s work is .“very good”.’
- 2. Yezzo is conscientious and thoroﬁgh in the coﬁi:letion of her work.

3. Yezzo produces work of very high quahty

4 Yezzo 5 work eKhlbltS a hlgh degree of accuracy.

The State also argues that there was no Brady violation in this case becauée the State \;.ras :
unaware. of any of the mformatlon in Yezzo’s personnel file. In addmcm the State contends that
that Yezzo’s personnel file would not be admissible at trial because its admlssmn would v1olate

the Ohio Rules of Evidence. Spec1ﬁcally, admission of the personnel ﬂle would violate the rutes

pertaining to both hearsa'y and improper character evidence.
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DOES THE INFORMATION IN THE PERSONNEL FILE
CONSTITUTE NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE

LEGAL STANDARD
As afirst step in this case, the Court must initially address whether the information

contained in Yezzo’s pcrsojmel_ ﬁle constitutes newly discovered evidence that could not with
reasonable diligence, have been rdiécovcred and produced at triall If the information in the - .
personnel file meets this requirement, the Court would be required to grant the aefendaﬂt leave to
' ﬂIe the motion for new trial, If not, leave should not be grantcd If leave is not granted, many of
the arguments made by both thc defendant and the State are not relevant and do not need to be |
addresscd. - .
In this case, ﬂ1e 'giefendant is seel_cing a new trial well past the hul_'ldred éﬁd twent‘j,r day.
' fimr:: limit (;ontained in Rulcn 33_. In order to obtain leave- to ﬁlé a motion for ne;)‘\/ frial, the
defendant must démonstratc that he was unavoidably prevéntc-d from discovering the new
evidence within that time limit: A party is unavoidably prevented from-. filing émotion for new
| . trial if the party had no knowledge of the existence of the grounds suppé_rting the motion for new
trial and could not have l.cam.ed of the existence of that ground within the time prescribed for
filing the motion fof nevu-r trial in the e);:ercise. of reasonable diligence. State v. Davis, IQ"‘ Dist.
Franklm No. 03AP- 1200 2004—01110-6065 1[11 (c1tmg State v. Walden, 19 Chio App.3d 141,
145—146 (1984) '
The defendant must show tha"c he was unavoidably prevented from filing a motion for
- new trial by clear and convincing evidence. State v. Graham, 3™ Dist, No. 5-05-13, 2006~
Ohio-352, quoting State v. Neace, 3 Dist. No. 10-99-07, 2000~Ohid;1649. Clear and

canvinéin'g evidénce is defined as a degree of proof which will produce a firm belief or
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conviction as to the obiigations sought to be established: Cross v. Ledford, 161 Ohio St. 469,
477 (1954). It is'important to note that this standard does not require the proof to be beyond a

. reasonable doubt, nor does it requite the proof to be unequivocél.-r

PRIOR HISTORY |
The defendant in this ca.';;e has filed four previous motions for new trial. These previous
mofions were filedsn Aﬁgust of 200’1.’, May of 2010, April of 2012, and Oetober of 2012, The
first three moﬁons were denied, whilé the last motion was voluntarily witl_idrawn. - A
In 2009, prior to the last three motions for-new trial being filed, the defendant made a
' pubhc records request seeking documents pertalmng to G. Michelle Yezzo Defense counsel,
. howevcr, did not request Yezzo s personnel ﬁle In January of 2016, defense counse] saw an.
- atticlein the Cleveland Plain Dealer regarding another case that involved Yezzo. It was only
after see_'uig that ar@icle that _defense counsel, for the ﬁré:t tinic, sought infpr;naﬁon regarding
Yezzo’s personnel file. _ |
' G.MICHELLE YEZZ0'S TRIAL DEPOSITION
As stated aone; the Court has thoroughly reviéwe_d the transcript of G. Michelle Yezzo’s
trial testimony in this case, YezL_zo was called by the State as a forensic expért. She provided a
rumber of opinions, but certainty (:iid not test.ify té anj( factual issues. 'Yezzo‘did not intcrv'i_ew |
eyewitnesses. She also did not testify as to statements and/or eyewitness accoum.s. Further, she
did not testify at trial as a live witness, but instead testified at a trial deposition that took place on
May12,1994. . - |
A review of ‘the transcript in’dicafes that Yezzo was subject to a rigorous cross- -
examination By defel_lse cqunscl. Defense cm:insel supcéssfu}ly obtained numerous favorable

‘admissions that blunted the effectiveness of Yezzo’s testimony. Defense counsel did not,
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however, attack Yezzo’s qualifications as a forensic expert, He did not ask if she had been
discipliﬁed by her employer, nor did he inquire as to whether there had-betle.n any coniplaints
about her work jn the past.
SIMILAR CASES
In his motion, the defendant a.sserts that the trial court must grant leave to file a motion
for a new.frial whenever a defendﬁ demonstrates that he was unavoidably prevented from
discovering the evidence that was the basis for the -motion.. State v. Glofer, 8™ Dist. Cuyalioga '
_‘ No-s. 102828, 102829, 102831, 2016-Ohio-2833. The defendant is lﬁnavoidaialy prevented from
~ filing the motion w1th1n the p_rcscribcd time if he had no knowl'e.dge-of the existence of the new
_ eviderice aﬁ‘d could not ha;ve leafﬁed of the existence of the new cﬁdence w1th the e‘xercise of- .
reasonable diligence. State v. Walden, 19 Ohib App.3d. 141, 145-146 (1984). |
The defendant cited a number of cases iﬁ which various courts have found clear and
convineing g-vidence' that the de.:fendant was unavbidablly prevented from discovery within the
requisite one hundred and twenty days. This 'Ct;urt has reviewed tliese cases in detail, and is
cdmpelle& to address the cases and compare them to'the facts in this case. |
The first case cited by the defendant is State v, Hattoﬁ, 4% Dist. Pickaway No. 11CA23,.
2013-Ohio-475. 'in Hatz‘bn, the dcfendant- was convicted of aggravated burglarg}, kidnapping,
felonious assault, rape and theft, Post-trial, one of the witnesses for the State, a co-conspiratt-)r,
recanted and indicated that he had lied uﬁdcr oath during trial. The Appell.;ate Court found that a
motion to file new trial should be allowed despite being filed past the a]iotted tirn.c. _
| The facts in this case are .easily distinguishable from tﬁe fac‘ts. in Hatroln. The defendant’s

motion for new trial is based upon information that could affect the credibility of Yezzo as a
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| _fonensic' expert. There is no indication that Yezzo lied under oath, or even changed her opinion.
Therefdre, the Court does not ﬁnd the Hatton.case useful in Inaking a ruling in this matter.

The second case relied upon by defendant was State v. Glover, 2016-Ohio-2833. In that
case, the State aIlegedIy w1thheld pohce reports that were prepared as part of the investigation.
Those reports contained the names of two potential eyewitnesses to the crime. Obviously the
.defense was unab}e to use the testimony of _‘rhese witnesses at trial, and a motion fof new trial
was granied.

| Again, like the Hatton, the facts i in Glover are much different than the facts in this case.
Yezzo wasnot a factual witnéss in this matfer. Instead she simply pr0v1ded expert opinions.
Obvmusly, her 1dent1ty was not concealed and the defendant had the opportunity to cross
' examine her and challenge her conclusions. | | '

The defendant also relies on State v. Howard, 2016-Ohio-504, 59 N.E3d 685 (10* Dist).
In Howard, the Jary wa.s reduire_d to determine if the victim in.the case was-murdered or .
committed suicide. The Court found that newly discovered medic'a_l reeords showing that the
victim had hﬁce—attempted suicide constituted new evidence that supported the defendant’s first

‘ moﬁon. for new n'ia]:

The facts in H:’owdrd are more relevant than the facts in the prior two cases cited by the
defendant. However, Howard 13 still readily distinguishable from the facts in this case.

K dbviously, the victim in the Howard cese was unavailable to testify at trial. The medical recerds
pertained to the victim’s state of mind and were directly related to the factual issues in the case,
as opinosed,to oﬁim'on testimony. In other words, they functioned as testimony from a witness

"who could not testify.
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ﬂﬁlilce the victim in the Howard case, G. Michelle Yezzo teétiﬁ_ed at trial. Any questions
regarding her qualifications, complaints about her ﬁork, or disciplinary actions taken againét her
could have been addres‘s-ed duriﬁg Cross eiéminaﬁon or through discovery. In other words, there
_ 'was no reason to guess how Yezzo wouid testify because dgfense couﬁsel had to the opportanity
to thoroughly and comprehensibly question her at length about the basis of her opinions.

It should be noted that the.re were a number of oﬁer issues in the‘ ‘Howard case that are
unrelated to this matter. The Court will not address tﬁose issues in this Entry. Howgver, the
Court believes lthat those issues contributed to the Appcllate Court’s decision in thﬁt matter.

| .Fiﬁally, thé State relieé on State v. Parsons, Huron C.P. CR 9300093 (March 2016) a
Huron County Common Pleas Court case in which a new trial was. granted in March of 201 6
. Apparently, thls was a murder case in whlch Yezzo testl:ﬁed as an expert witness. Since this is
not an appellate case; this Court has little or no knowledge regarding the specific facts in that
matter. Theréfore, it is impossible for the Court to use'the Parsons case in‘ordér to make a

determination in this matter.

THE COURT’S ANALYSIS
After considering thls matter ca-refully, this Court does nat find that the information in
Yezzo’s personnel file constitutes newly discp\fcred evidence that would allow for a motion- for |
ﬁew trial, The Court bases its decision on thé folléwing

G. MICHELLE YEZZO WAS SUBJECT TO CROSS-EXAMINATION AT TRIAL

The defendant’s assertion that the information in Yezzo’s personnel file was vmavailable
is ﬁndermmed by the fact that she was subject to a full cross-examination at her tnal deposition.

G. Michelle Yezzo testified as an expert witness. As such, it is common practice to explore a

A-10 ' _ APPENDIX B




wituesg’s qualifications to testify, as well as any deficiencies in thos;e qualiﬁcatiéns. When
dealing with expert wifnesses, atiomeys routinely inquire as to disciplinary action or complaints
concerning perfonnaﬁcc. Many times this is the entire basis of a cross examination. In this case,
the defendant has not provided any evidence indicating that Yezzo would have refused to answer
questions concerning her personnel file in a truthful manner. All the defendant can show is that
those questions were not asked. |

- However, trial attomey; often decidé not to pursue the strategy of attaé%ing ai;-expért ’
witness’s qualifications. 'Instead,__attomeys may ad(_)pt a number of different appfoaches.to
undermine tﬁe expert witness’s_tes_timony. For example, an attorney may atternpt to chailenge '
ﬂle information that was provided to the expert or force the expert witness to concede that more
| than one conclusion could be drawn. Obviously, ther¢ is no need ftsr the Couﬂ to delve into the
- MEMerous SHategies that can be used with crossFexamining expert witnesses, but.clearly there are
a mjriad of different approaches that can be utilized. Simply because the defendant’s trial
counsel did nof ask questions about Yezzo’s personnel file, does not mém the infoﬁnation was
not available. |

The Courtl also rej'ects.the defendant’s contention that failing to provide Yezzo’s

personnel file to the defendant constitutes aI;’rady violation. In producing Yezzo as gwitness,'
.the Staté provided défgnse counsel with the opportunity to explore any topic that defense counsel
deemed to be relévant. There were no rulings thét limited the scope of cross-examination,
Clearly, there is no burden on the State to review defense counsel’s cross-examination,
detenniﬁe if defense courisel failed to explore a certain tdpic, and suégeét addiéional questions

that could have been asked.
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THE H\]FOMATION CONTAINED IN G, MICHELLE YEZZ(Q'’S PERSONNEL
FILE WAS A.\‘(AILABLE THROUGH A PUBLIC RECORDS RE( QUE-ZST

The second factor that undermines the defendant's argmnchts‘ is the fact that the

 information in the personnel file could have been obtained through a simple public.records

request. Tt does not appear that defense counsel attempted to 6btain any infoxmatiOn concerning

Yezzo’s qualifications pnor to tnal This was not-done through any type of dlscovery request,

1ot was there a pubhc records request. In preparing to cross-examine expert witnesses, gathermg'

information ccinccming qualifications and ‘prior testimony is both expected and commonplace.
Engaging in this type of preparation is not something that is done only if defense counsel knows
of damaging hlforntation. In fact, this is non'nglly how defense counsel obtains damaging
information to an expert’s credibility, |

| In the defendant’s motion, defense counsel readily admith that in 2009 a public records
- tequest was made. The defendant Ihro‘vides no exhlanation as to why this request was not made
until approxtmately 15 years after the defendant’s trial, However, defense counscl does admit
that th13 request did not include Yezzo’s personnel file. Agam defense counsel provldes no
explanation as to why the personnel] file was not requested. As aresult, _defense counsel has
failed to shdw that the information contained in the personnel file was unavailable.

In an interesting attempt to show this information was not available, defense counsel cites

a situation involving an ur;:cl_ated case with a different attomey. Allegedly, this other attomef
attempted to obtain Yezzt)’s personnel file through a public rhchrds request, but was unable_ todo
S0 becatlse the information was W‘tthheld. Ob\t_iously, the Court has: no knowledge regarding this
unrelated matter and it would certfti_:ﬂy-be inappropriate to draw any significant conclusions ftom

these allegafions. However, the Court rejects the defendant’s argument that even if the .
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information would have been sought, it would have been unavailable. The Court ﬁnds th15

argument tobe unsubstant1ated h1ghly speelﬂatlve, and ultimately unpersuasive,

CONCLUSION -

I.n order to obtain leave to file a delayed motion for new-irial the defendant is required to
show by cIear and convincing eVIdence that the mformatlon contained in Yezz0’s personnel file
was unavailable to the defendant with the exercise of réasonable diligence. T_he defendant has
failed to'meet this standard. This inform.ation could have easily been obtained thro_ugh Cross-

) exemination. It could also have been obtained ﬂnough a simple public reeor&s'request

WHEREFORE IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the

defendant’s Motion for Leave to File Delayed Motion for New Tnal Based on Newa Dzscovered

/Zw..f

Hon. Sean E. Leuthold, Judge

Evidence is hereby denied.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Copies to

Matthew E. Crall, Esq and Ryan M. Hoovler, Esq, — Counsel for State of 0h10
‘Rachel Troutman, Esq. — Counsel for Defendant Kevin A, Keith T
James R, Wooley, Esq. — Counsel for Defendant, Kevin A, Keith

. Zachary M. Swisher, Esq. — Counsel for Defendant, Kevin A. Keith

James M. Petro, Esq, — Counsel for Defendant, Kevin A, Keith
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Supreme Coqrt' of Ohio Clerk of Court - Filed August 10, 2017 - Case No. 2017-1100

F' -y
. = COUF-’T'
TOR g
.’[.41/ b 5 4‘1.—;-::54(.3
R WFQZ;E;L‘{'{EST,:- ”
) . 14, CQLW ﬁ.‘;‘
i ) .i.,..‘ .
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF OHIO i
THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT
' CRAWFORD COUNTY
_STATE OF OHIO,
PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE,  CASENO. 3-17-01
- Y. |
KEVIN A. KEITH, - OPINION

'DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

Appeal from Crawford County Common Pleas Court
' Trial Court No.94-CR-0042 '

o udgment Affirmed
Date of Decision: June 16, 2017

P

APPEARANCES:

-

Rachel Troutman and Zachary M. S;vish-er for Appeltant

Matthew E. Crall for Appellee
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Case No. 3- 17-.0‘1

SHAW, J.

{ﬁ[ 1} Defendarrt—appellant, KeVm Keith (“ ‘Kerth”), brmgs this appeal from the -

January 13, 2017, Judgment of the Crawford County Common Pleas Court denying
Keith’s “Motion for Leave to File Delayed Motion for New Tral ,Base_d on Newly
Discovered Evidence.;_’ e
Facts and Procedural History
{92} In February of 1994 Kelth was indicted for three counts of Aggravated

‘\/Iurder with eaprtal«-offense specifications and three counts of Attempted

- ‘Agpgravated Murder Following a two—week jury trial, Kerth was found guilty of all

counts against him. The jury recommended, and the 1rral court 1rnposed a death
sentence for each of the Aggravated Murder counts. This Court affirmed the
convietions and sentence m State v. Keith, 3d Dist. Crawford No. 1996 WL 156710.
The Supreme Court of Ohio then revi'ewed and afﬁruled,the convictions and

Sentence in State v, Keith, 79 Ohio St.3d 514 (1997)

{1[3} In the Supreme Court of Ohlo s oprmon afﬁrrmng Kerth’s convrcuons o

and sentence, 'the following facts were presented, which we quote from at 1engﬂ:1 to

- provide context for the current appeal.

_ On the evening of February 13, 1994, Manche]l Chatman,
_ her seven-year-old daughter, Marchae, and -Richard Warren,
who had been living with Marichell and Marchae. for several
weeks, were at Marichell’s apartment in the Bucyrus Estates. At
the time, Marichell was babysittmg heér young cousins, Quanita
and Quinton Reeves. At approximately 8: 45 p.m., Manchell’
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Case No. 3-17-01

aunt, Linda Chatman, arrived at the apartment to pick up
Quanita and Quinton, Linda’s niece and nephew. '

A few minutes after Linda arrived, Warren, mbmentarily

diverted from a basketball game he was watching on television, -
noticed 4 man standing outside the apartment door. Although the

man began to walk away without knocking, Warren opened the
door. The man turned-and asked for Linda,

~ While Linda went outside and spoke with the man, Marichell
told Warren the man’s full name. Although Warren could recall

only the first name, Kevin, he later identified appellant astheman

at the door. Marichell also mentioned that Kevin had been
involved in a big drug bust.

After a short time, Linda and appellant returned to the -

apartment, where appellant and Warren had 2 brief
conversation. According to Warren, appellant appeared to have
" his turtleneck shirt pulled up over the bottom part.of his face an
even drank a glass of water through it. _ .

After drinking the glass of water, appellant pulled a nine-
millimeter handgun from a plastic bag he carried and ordered
everyone to lie on the floor. Appellant repeatedly scolded
Marichell for using his first name when she asked what he was

doing and why, Despite Marichell’s pleas with appellant on .

behalf of the children, appellant placed the gun to her head. Adfter

.. ordering Marichell to be.quiet, appellant said, “Well, youshould: .

have thought about this before your brother started ratting on
people.” Marichell responded, “Well, my brother didn’t rat on
anybody and even if he did, we didn't have anything to do with
it.” Testimony at trial confirmed that Marichell’s brother, Rudel

‘Chatman, was a police informant in a drug investigation involving

appellant. According to the presentencé‘report, the month. prior
to the murders, appellant was charged with several counts of
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Case No. 3-17-01

~ aggravated trafficking,’

| Next, Warren heard a gunshot but was forced to turn away
when a bullet struck him in the jaw. Warren heard ten to twelve
additional shots, two more striking him in the back. After he
heard the apartment door close, Warren ran out of the
apartment, across a snow-covered field to Tke’s Réstaurant,
yelling for help. Four or five more shots were fired, one striking
him in the buttocks and knocking him down. Warren was able to

get up and obtain help from the restaurant.

Another Bucyrus Estates resident, Nancy Smathers, heard
several popping noises at approximately 9:00 p.m. As she looked
out her front door, Smathers saw a large, stocky black man run
to the parking lot and get into a light-colored, medium-sized car.
As the car sped away, it slid on the icy driveway and into a
snowbank, When the driver got out of the car, Smathers noticed
that the car’s dome light and the light around the license plate did
not work. The driver rocked the car back and forth for nearly
five minutes before he was able to free the car from the snpowbank.
Several weeks later, Smathers informed Bucyrus Police Captain
Michzel Corwin that, after seeing appeliant on television, she was
ninety percent sure appellant was the man she had seen that night.

‘When medical personnel arrived at the Bucyrus Estates
apartment, Linda .and Marichell Chatman were dead, having
suffered multiple gunshot wounds, including fatal wounds to the

- neck or head: - All three children initially sarvived the atfack. . ..
However, Marchae’s two gunshot wounds to her back proved
fatal. The Reeves children each sustained two bullet wounds and
serious injuries. B ' '

, Approximately eight hours after the shootings, Warren was
recovering from surgery at a Columbus hospital. During a

1 Although the Supreme Court of Ohio only cites the presentence report & indicating that the manth prior to '

the murders Keith was charged with several counts of aggravated trafficking, there was testimony about this
issue during the trial itself for the jury to consider. Lieutenant David Dayne of the Galion Police Department
testified that Rudell Chatman, Marichell’s brother, worked with police on a “covert drug operation[]”
regarding Keith, which resulted in 2 series of indictments, including four counts of “rafficking” against
Keith. (Teial Tr. at 589-90). According to Dayne, Keith was “out on bond” on thoss trafficking charges at
the time of the murders in this case. ([d. 2t 550). : :
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postoperative interview with a nurse, Warren wrote “Kevin” on
a piece of paper as the name of his assailant. Later that day,
Bucyrus Police Captain John Stanley had two telephone
conversations with Warren. During the second conversation,
Stanley mentioned three or four possible last names for Kevin, At
trial, Stanley could only recall that hé mentioned the names Kevin
Thomas and Kevin Keith. Warren stated that he was seventy-five

' percent sure the name he heard from Marichell was Kevin Keith,
When shown a photo array of six suspects, Warren chose
.appellant’s picture and told police he was ninety-five percent sure
that appellant was the murderer. '

" Investigators recovered a total of twenty-four cartridge
 casings froim the crime scene area, which had all béen fired from
the same gun, In addition to those, investigators recovered a
casing found on the sidewalk across from the enirance to a .
General Electric plant. On the night of the murders, appellant
pickéd up his girlfriend; Melanie Davison, from work at the
entrance to the General Electric plant where the casing was
-found.

At the snowbank where Smathers witnessed the getaway car -
slide, investigators made a cast of the tire tread and of the
indentation in the spowbank made by the cax’s front license plate
number—#043.” The indentation from the license plate-matched
the last three numbers of a 1982 Oldsmobile Omega seized from -
Melanie Davison shortly after she visited appellant in jail, under-

the psendonym of Sherry Brown, a few weeks after the murders.

The Oldsmobile was registered to Alton Davison, Melanie’s
grandfither, and was also regularly used by Melanie. ‘Davison
had put four new tires on the Omega six months prior to the
murders. Davison estimated that by Febrnary 1994, the new tires
had been driven less than 3,000 miles without any problems or
need for replacement. Although the cast taken of the tire tread at
the crime scene did not match tires found on the Oldsmobile
Omega one month later, the cast did match the tread of the tires
purchased by Alton Davison as shown on the tire’s sales
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brochures.> Additionally, the- tires found on the ' Oldsmebile
Omega had been manufactured in January 1994 and showed a
minimal amount of wear.’ ' ‘ :

g K
Aﬁer a two-week trial, a jury found appellant lguilty of all counts.
State v, Keith, 79 Ohio St3d 514, 514-517. (1997) )
| {f/4} Following the Supreme .Ct.)-urt of Ohio’s afﬁml;ance of Keith’s

convictions and his sentence in 1997, Keith filed numerous post-conviction

petitions, habeas corpus petitions, and motions for a new trial, which jncluded

motions for a new trial based on “newly discovered evidence.” All of Keith’s
arguments have ‘been analyzed and repeatedly rejected by the courts reviewing

them, whether State or Federal

2 Michelle Yezzo, whose testimony is primarily at issue in this appeal, testified that the partial tire imprint
was similar to the tire markings in the brochure.

3 We.would 2dd that testimony at trial indicated that the-seized-vehicle's dome light did not.work and-that -

the license plate light did not work either, corroborating the testimony of Smathers.
4 This Court provided a history of Keith's various attempts to overturn his conviction up to 2011 in State v.
Keith, 3d Dist. Crawford No..3-10-19, 2011-Ohio-407. The following is 2 brief summary of that history.

Keith filed his first petition for post-conviction relief in 1998, which was denied and the denial was affirmed -

on appeal. State v. Keith, 3d Dist. No. 3-98-05, 1998 WL 487044. In 1999 Keith filed a habeas corpus

petition in a federal district court presenting eight grounds for relief, which was denied in 2001. That habeas.

petition was appealed and denied on appeal by the Sixth Circuit. Keith v. Mitchell, 455 F.3d 662 (C.A6,
2006). In'2004 Keith filed a second petition for postconviction relief, which was denied, appealed to this
Court, and the denial was affirmed. In 2007, Keith filed 2 moticn for leave to file a delayed motion for mew

trial, which.was denied, and he.also filed 2 motion to reopent his direct appeal which was denied and affirmed

by the Supreme Court of Ohio. State v. Keith, 119 Ohio $t.3d 161, 2008-Obio-3866. In 2008 Keith filed a
motion for an evidentiary hearing for his mation for new trial, which was denied and affirmed on appeal.
State v. Keith, 3d Dist. Crawford No. 3-08-15, 2008-Obig-6187. In 2009 the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals
- denied Keith’s request to have a second habeas corpus petition considered, Keith v. Bobby, 551 F3d 555
(2009). In May of 2010, Keith filed another motion for leave to file 2 delayed motion for a new trial argning
that the State had improperly suppressed evidence. The trial court denied that motion and it was affirmed by
this Court on appeal. Statev. Keith, 3d Dist. Crawford No. 3-10-19, 201 |-Ohic-407. In March of 2014, it
appears that Keith filed another Habeas pefition in United States District Caurt, which was transferred to the
Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals due to being a successive petition. See Keith v. LaRose, N.D, Obio, 2014 WL

1369655.
-6-
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{45} After the exhaustion of his appeals, Keith was scheduled to be executed
on September 15,2010. However, on September 2 2010, Kerth’s sentence of death
wasg commuted to a term of hfe in prison W1thout the p0551b1]1ty of parole” by then-
Governor Ted Strlclc]and.5 (Doc.' 232).

{916} After Keith’s sentence was commuted to life in prison, Keith filed
multiple,additienal motions for a néw trial, one of which was denied and dne which
was dismissed.

{ﬁ[’?} On QOctober 28, 2016, Keith filed another motion titled, “Motton for

Leave to File Delayed Motion for New Trial Based on Newly Dlscovered

Evidence,” which is the primary subject of the current appeal. (Doc. No.263). In
| _his “Mdtion for Leave,’; Keith argued that he had obtained the pe‘rsonnel file of the
State’s forensm expert G. Michelle Yezzo, which had not been provided to him in
discovery prror to his trial. Keith contended that Yezzo’ s personnel ﬁle contained
statements datmg back to 1989 which indicated that sore of Yezzo’s coworkers felt
she was mentally unstable, that Yezzo had used rac1al slurs, that Yezzo had a

reputation among her coworkers for “stretch[ing] the truth to satlsfy a departmen

and that Yezzo’s coworlcers thought that her findings and conclusions regardmg

5 We would note that in his brief, Keith states that Governor Strickland commuted his sentence to a life
sentence, “citing doubts about Keith’s guilt as his reasoning for the.commutation.” (Appt's Br. at 1).
Nowhere in the Warrant of Commutation of Sentence, which is included in the record, does Stnckland cite
“doubts”. apemﬁcally about Keith’s “guilt.”
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evidence “may be suspect.”® Keith claimed that Yezzo’s testimony was critical m
' onv1ctmg him by linking him to the car that fled the murder scene that got stuck i in
- the snow as wu:uessed by Smathers Ketth argued that the mformatlon contamed n
Yezzo’s personnel file would have been significant uupeachment evidence of the
State’s forensic expert. | |
{98 Keith contended that he had no lcuowledge of the-inforulatiou contained
-in Yezzo’s persouuel file until 2016, that he certamly was ‘not provided Yezzo’s
.persounel file prior to his trial by the State, and that the State had not prov1c1ed the
| personnel file at any time since. Further, Keith a.rgued that BCI m1ttally denied a
pulr)llc records request filed by Keith's counsel regardiug Yezt:o in 2609, though
that request dld not seek Yezzo’s personnel file. Keith did eventually obtain the
records he sought in the 2009 public Iecords request, though not Yezzo s personnel
file because it was uot requested; nevertheless, Keith speculated that access to
Yezzo's personnel file would have been denied like his original 2009 public records
. request, estabhshmg that he was unavmdably preveuted frorn obtammg Yezzo s
personnel records. | |
{9 K:eith supported his “Motion for Leave™ by citing a separete trial court
case, State v. Parsons, Huron No. CPQl 0098, wherein the Hurou Couuty Common

Pleas Court granted a defendant leave to file a motion for a new trial on the basis of

6 Damel L. Chilton, “Assistant Supenntendent,“ catalopued the complamts of Yezzo's peers from 2 meeting
of the “Mirero Section,” and wrota them in a memo to Paul Ferrar, the Superintendent on May 11, 1989.
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the State’s failure to disclose Yezzo’s personnel file in a 1993 murder case. Later,

the same trial court actually granted the defendant a new trial based on the State’s

failure to disclose Yezzo’s personnel file and the impeachment evidence contained |

therein, In doing so, the Huron County Common Pleas Court found that Yezzo’s
testimony was “important and significant in establishing [a specific] tool as the

murder weapon and ultimately securing a conviction for the State.” (Doc. No. 265,

Ex. 17). According to the Huron County Common Pleas Court’s entry, Parsons was .

only charged with murder over 10 years after the actual murder of his wife, and the

trial .court speculated that the cold case was perhaps only pursued on the basis of

Yezzo’s forensic ﬁndiﬁgs linking the perceived murder weapon to Parsons. (/d.) Tn |

this case,.Keith contended that_his-situaﬁon-was similar to Patsons, arguing that
Yezﬁo’s_testimony was critical in convicﬁng‘hiﬁl, and that at the *}ery.lcast his
“Motion for Leave” should be granted. _

| {410} In the exhibits ,KeAith. included with-his “Motion for Leaye,” ‘Kéi-th
- attached ﬂ-le- afﬁdé;zit of Lee Fi.s'her,"w‘lio was 0h10’sAttorney GeI;eraI from. 199 1-
1995, Fisher’s affidavit stated that had he knowrn in 1994 what he knows now
| regarding Yezzo’s personmel file he “would not have pcrri;itted Ms. Yezzo to
provide testimony agaiﬁst Kevin Kejth. I also would .have Qrdei'éd the submitted

evidence to be reanalyzed by a separate analyst.” (Doc. No. 265, Ex. 3, p.3).
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{4[11} By way of context regarding Yezzo’s testimony during Keith’s trial

specifically, Yezzo testified via a trjal deposition that was read into the record.”

Yezzo’s testip;ony indicated that she had been _at-BCI for over 17 years, that she had
“testified over 200 times in 49 counties in Ohio and fhat she had been quﬂiﬁed as an
expert in prior cases. Specifically regarding thi_s.case, Yezzo testified that she was
able to identify the numbers “043” in the region of the purportéd' license plate area
from impressidns the Jicense plate left in the snow bank when the vehicle was stuck,

and that the mumbers from the plate were in an area similarly placed to what ﬂiey

" would be on the vehicle liﬁked to Keith. Yezzo also tes‘tiﬂed that the tire tracks left -

at the scene were simailar in tread pattern to the pattern in a-ﬁrc brochﬁre that had
been submitted to her. Other witnesses were used to esteblish ﬂJat the ﬁrcs héd been
 recently changed- on the ;rehicle linked to Keith. .

o 12} However, it is aiso.importa:it $o note that on cross-examination Yezzo
indicated that_ she could not state with c_ertginty that the license ﬁlate fromn the vehicle
linked to Keith was the

acknciwledg_ed that defense counsel had a list of nuniefous vehicles containing the

7 At oral argument, Keith's attorneys insimuated that a trial deposition was used because Yezzo Was on
administrative leave from BC for the issues specific to this case, such as her work performance. This is not

- accurate. The record indicates that Yezzo was placed on leave ™o explore allegations of threaténing
statemnents that [Yezzo] made regarding an employee or employees of the Bureau of Criminal Identification
& Tnvestigation.” Yezzo's personnel file details these purported threats, which Yezzo addressed and her
responses were contained in the record. There is absolutely no mdication that Yezzo was placed on leave for
the allegations now being raised regarding, substandard work or for falsifying documents to satisfy law
enforcement. . C ‘
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sequential digits “043” from Richiand al;td Crawford Counties alone. This
suppbrted the theory put forth by Keith’s trial counsel to the jury fhat there were
several other pofential suspects, including Bruce Melton and Rodney Melton who
had access to a car that had the sequential digits “043” 1n it. |
{913} Yezzo also testified 0;1 cross-examination f]jat she analyzed sweepings
taken from the vehicle linked to Keith, and found no. fibers inside coﬁnéctingit to
the murders. Asto tﬁ_e tire tread similarities, Yezzo testified that she could only
state that the tread pattern from the impression left in the snow was “similar” td
those pr'ov.ided to herina brochﬁre because she only haci apartfal fread design from
the print. (Yezzo Depo. Tr. at 23). Finalljr, defense counsel was able to get Yezzo
to acknowledge that Keith’s footwear, which had been obtained when Kei—th. was
lafer arrested, did not match the prints left at the sc.ene.
{f14} On the same date that he filed his “Motion for Leave,” Kelth also filed

" a document titled, “Motlon for New Trial Based on Newly Dtscovered Ev1dence

and/or Post-Conwctlon Rehef Under Ohio Rev Code § 2953.23.” In the motlon L
Keith argued more specifically that Yezzo s testimony was critically m1portant in

convicting him and that it was thus essential to have the “newly. discovered o

evidence” to impeach Yezzo pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963),

and the State did not provide the file. Separately, Keith made essentially the same
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'argu.ments in the context of a ’sucrcessive petition for post-conviction relief under
R.C. 2953.23.

{f15} On October 31 2016, the tr1a1 court filed an entry determining that
Keith’s actual “Mot:on for New Tnal” was ﬁle-stamped erroneously by the clerk of .
courts, as it coutd not have been deemed to be filed until the court granted Teave. _
The trial court t.hen ordered a briefing schedtzle for the State to respond to Keith’s
“Motion for Leave” and for Keith to reply in support-of hrs motion.

{1116} Subsequently the State filed its brief in response to Keith’s “Motion
for Leave.” The State argued Yezzo’s persom1e1 records were not reqmred pursuant
to Brady because the State was not aware of Yezzo’s records, the State did not have
them, and that in any event Yezzo's personnel records were not.material to Keith’s
tdal. The State arglied that the portions Keith cited fren:t Yezzo’s personnel ;t'rle
calling her unstable, her conch'lsiens unreliable, and questioniog her integrity We_re
actually from a sumrnary of complamts made by Yezzo 5 coworkers during a union
action, not any of her supenors The State argued that there was no mdlcatlon that
apy disciplinary action or other-internal adjudic ation. was ever taken against Yezzo

on these issues or that the opinions of Yezzo’s coworkers were the opim'ons of the
BCI admjmstxatron In fact, the State argued that Yezzo’s personnel ﬁle contamed
yearly reports with almost umversa]ly positive performance reviews. Moreover, the

State argued that the evidence in Yezzo’s personnel files would not have been
-12-
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admissible at trial regardless as the pertinent documents contained imprope'r hearsay

within hearsay and improper character ev1dence

{7 Furthennore as to the testnnony prov1ded by Yezzo at trial mere .

pec1ﬁca]1y, the State argued that a layman could clearly see - the 1mpr1nt of the

hcense plate numbers “043” that were imprinted in the snowbank in. thlS case and

that a pohce officer actually stated this himself at trial separate from Yezzo’ 5

testimony, meamng that Yezzo added almost nothing with regard to the license plate

number. As to the tire imprint, the State argued that Yezzo merely testified that the

tire tracks were smnlar to tires that had purportedly been on the car at one time and
that a separate .witness testified that the tires had been changed mthout the
pernnsswn of the owner.

{918} Finally, the State argued that Kelth was’ requn‘ed to - clearly and

convmcmgly show that he was unavmdably prevented fram discovering the new

: etndence and he could not do so here. However; the State argued that even if Keith -

could show he was unavo1dab1y prevented from dlscovenng Yezae 8 personnel ﬁle )

the evidence agajnst .Kelth was simply overwhelm]ng in this case, particularly given. |

the eyew1tness testimony.

{1[ 19} On November 21, 2016, Keith ﬁled a reply memorandum in support
of his “Motion for Leave.” Separately, Keith also filed a “Motion to Supplement

" Motion for Leave to File Delayed Motion for New Trial and Successor Petition for
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Post—Convictien Relief Under R.C. § 2953.2’3.” In his “Motion to Supplement,”
Keith argued thatm a seperate case in 2003, not involving Keith, there was 2 public
‘ records request for Yezzo’s personnel files and the tesponse to that request did not
. include the most damagmg information against Yezzo from her personnel file.
Keﬂ‘.h argued that this further proved he was unavoidably prevented from
dlscovermg the mformahon in Yezzo s personnel file. Keith also specifically noted
| that leave of court was not required to ﬁle a successive petition for post-conviction
relief, “thus it is unclear what is the effect of those claims on this Court’s October
31, 2016 ruling,” which had determined that Keith’s “Motmn for New Tnal” was
ifnproperly, file-stamped by the cletk of courts. (Doc. No. 270, fa. 1). ‘

{420} On January- 13, 2017, the trial court isSued a 13-page judgment entry

on the matter denying Kelth’s “Mot:on for Leave.” In its entry, the trial court

summarized - the parties’ arguments, the apphcable [egal standards, Yezzo's
-tcstlmony, and then conducted an analys1s of the matier. In 1ts analysis, the taal
'“court also noted that Yezzo was subject to CTOSs- examma‘don duzing her trial
deposition, wherein defense counsel could hHave explored her qualifications,
deﬁciencies and disciplinary actions. The trial codrt noted that even though defense

- counsel did not prebe these areas, it did not mean the information was unavailable

to the defense.
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{421} The trial court also determined that the information contained in. -

Ye;ZO’s personnel file was avﬁilable through a public records request, that defense

counsel.mdde a requeét for public records in 20‘09 but did not include Yezzo’s

personnel ﬁle at that tlmc, and that defense counsel failed to show the mformahon

was tnavailable at the time of trial. |

{922} The trial court concluded by determining that Keith had to show by

'ciear and _convincing evidence that the information in Yezzo's personne] file was
unavailable toIIhi-m with &e exercise of reasonable diligence and he had failed to
meet that standard as the iinfbmlation m Yezzo’s personnellﬁle could hz-t‘ve been

obtained through cross-examination or a public records request. Keith’s “Motion

for Leave” was thus denied. Keith then filed an appeal of the denial of his “Motion-

for Leave” with this Court, asserting the following assignments of error for our
TEVICW.

Assxgnment of Exror No. 1

The trial. court.erred in denying appellant’s motion for. leave to . . _ . e

file a new trial motion based on newly discovered evidence.

Assignment of Exror Ne. 2
The trial court erred in holding that Kelth failed fo demonstrate
a Brady violation, .

Assignment of Exror No. 3
- The trlal court erred in striking the filing of Keith’s successor
post-conviction petition and new trial motion.
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First Assignment of Error

{9123} In his first assignment of error, Keith aIgués_ that the trial court abused |

its discretion in denﬁring his motion for léa{re to file a motion for a new trial based
on newly discovered evidence.
{_1[24} _Tﬁe time for filing a m;)tion for a new trial based on newly discovered
~evidence is govemed by Crim.R. 33(B). Itreads, in pertinent part,

Motions for new trial on account of newly discovered evidence
shall be filed within one hundred twenty days after the day upon
which the verdict was rendered, or the decision of the court where
trial by jury has been waived. Ifitis made to appear by clear and
convineing proof that the defendant was unavoidably prevented
from the discovery of the evidence upon which he must rely, such
motion shall be filed within seven days from an order of the court
finding that he was unavoidably prevented from discovering the
evidence within the one hundred twenty-day period. ‘

{025} CrimR. 33(B) has thus been_interpreted as having “a two-step

procedure when & defendant seeks to file a motion for new irial outside the 120-day

deadline.” State v, Howard, 10th Dist. Frapklin No. 1SAP-161, 2016-Ohio-504, T -

48: “In the first step, the defendant must deni&ﬁs&été tha{ he was hriavoicfa‘b'lj" ‘

pre\fented from discovering the evidence relied upon-to support the motion for new

wial” State v, Bethel, 10th Dist. No. 09AP-924, 2010-Ohio-3837, 2010 WL
3239480, § 13. In the second step, if the defendant does establish unavoidable .

prevention by clear and convincing evidence, the defendant must file the motion for

new trial within seven days from the trial court’s order finding umavoidable
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orevention. Id, citing State v. Woodward, 10t Dist, Frauklin No. 08AP-1015,

2009 Ohio-4213.

{26} “A defendant demonstrates he was unavoidably prevented from

-discovering the new evidence within the 120-—day time period for filing a motion for
new trial when the defendant *had no knowledge of the evidence supporting the
motion for new trral and could not have teamed‘_of the exietence of the evidence
. withinltl_le time prescribed fdr filing such a motion through the exercise of
reasonable dﬂigence P Horvard et 1 49, quoting Bethel at 9 13, eiting State v.
Berry, 10th Dist. Franklm No. 06AP-803, 2007-Obio-2244, { 19. “Clcar and
: convincing proof that the defendant was ‘unavoidably prevented from filing
requlres more tltan a mere allegation that a defendant has been unavoidably
prevented from dlscovermg the ev1dence he seeks to introduce as support for a new

. trial.” * State v. Lee, IO‘th Dlst Franldm No. 05AP-229, 2005~0h10-6374 19,

quotmg State v, Mathis, 134 Ohio App.3d 77,79 (lst Dist.1999). The standard of

| H_clear and convmcmg ewdence has been deﬁned by the Supreme Court of Ohio as
,“proof which is more than a mere ‘preponderance of the evidence,” but not to the
extent of such certainty as is required “beyond a reasonable doubt’ in criminal cases,
and which will produce in the mind df the trier of facts a firm belief or conviction

as to the facts songht to be established.” Cross v. LedfOrd, 161 Ohio St. 469 (1954,

paragraph three ef the syllabus.
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{927} We revie;N atrial court’é decisiﬁn‘ gr_ant'uig or denying a Crirn‘.R.'SS(‘B)‘
motiéan forleave to file a delayed motion for a 'nev} trial under an abuse of discretion
standard.® Howard, supra, at b 46 . An abuse of discretion_ is a decision that ﬁnplies
the cour_t’s determination was mbiﬁarjr, unreasonable, .01; unc_onsc_ionable..
-' Blakemore v. Blakemore, 5 Ohio St.3d 217,_ 219 (1983).

- {928} With the ﬁrécedh_ig standards in mm¢ we must thus ﬁetermine
whether the trial court abusea its discretion in finding that Keith failed to
" demonstrate bf cleér and convincing evidence that he was unavoidably prejented
from discovering Yezzo’s personnel file and the statements contained ﬁerem.

{029} In denying Keith’s “Motion for Leave” in this case, the trial court

made two primary findings: 1) Yezzo was subject to cross-cxamination and Keith -

could have attacked her qualifications and performance in her trial deposiﬁon in

order to learn about her, particularly on any' disciplinary issues, but he chose not to -

- do so; and 2) Keith did not meet-his burden to establish that Yezzo's personnel file

was unavailéb}_e through a public records request.

® Had the trial court gramed Keith leave to actually file a motion for a new trial, we would also review the

trial court’s decision on the motion for & new trial itself under an abuse of discretion standard. However, in
order to actually obtain a new trial, Keith would have to show far moge than he was unavoidably detained

from discovering the evidence, He would have to show that “the new evidence (1) discloges a strong

probability that it will change the result if a new teial is granted, (2) has been discovered since the trial; (3) is
such as could not in the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before the trial, (4) is material to the
issues, (5) is not merely cumulative to former evidence, and (6) does not merely impeach or contradict the
former evidence.” State v. Petro, 148 Ohio 3t. 505 (1947), at syllabus, As will be discussed infra Keith
cammot establish that there was a strong possibility the evideace would change the result of his trial, and he
would have difficulty establishing multiple other provisions under Petro as well.
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-{930} On appeel, Keith elaims that both of the trial court;s f’r_ndjngs were
erroneous. He contends that with regard to the cross-examinaﬁdn.of Yezzo, the
pertinent impeachment evidence was not. disclosed by the State and unicnown by the.
defe_nse thus cross-examination; could not cure the issue, and with regard to Athe
i)ublic records request, Keith claimed that in_other cases unrelated to Keith it ]rad
- proven drfﬁcult to obtain Yezzo’s persormel file. Further,Keith argued that apubhc
records request regarding Yezzo in 2009 that did not request her persormel file was
mitilly denied. N

{ﬁ[31} We will address the trial court’s second finding. regardmg Kelth’
ability to make a public records request as 1t1s dlsposmve of this _ass1gnme11t of
erTor. In its entry oﬁ the matter, the trial court noted that the record did not show
that Keith’s original defense counsel’ attempted to obtain any information
‘ c0nceming Yezzo’s personnel file prior to trial. The trial court added thz—tt Keith did

not establtsh by clear and convmcmg ev1dence that he could not obtam Yezzo s

| personnel ﬁle through a pubhc records request pnor to the trme of hlS tnal or w1thm o
reasonable time thereafter The trial court further stated that Keith seemingly
waited 15 years to 'request any public records regarding Yezzo and that when Keith
made a public records request in 2009, the request sti]i did not even include Yezzo’s
sersonnel file. Thus the frial court determined that Keith faﬂed fo meet s burden

by clear and convincing evidence that he was unavoidably prevented from o_btairring
-19-
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Ye_zzo’s'personnel‘ﬁ[e prior to 2016, as the record is devoid of any actual indication

. that such an attempt was made and denied.,

* {432} While Keith points to other cases where Yezzo’s personnel file may

have been left out of discovery or portions- of Yezzo’s file may not have been
disclosed, as the trial court noted we have no true knowledge of what was sought

and what was turned over in those cases thus those cases are of very ]ittle value. In

addition, Keith cites to his own attempt to obtain public records regardmg Yezzo in
2009, which was initially denied, but the demal as stated in emails mcluded in the

record, was based on Keith's- ongoing federal litigation. Nevertheless, Keith did

eventually obtain the récords he sought. Thus none of the cases cited by Keith,
including his own 2009 attempt, esteblish that the.trial court abused its discretion
by detemﬁning that Keith did not cstabh'sh by clear and convincing evidence that
he was unavoidably prevented from obtaining Yezro’s personnel file via a publjc

records request

{433} On the basrs of the record before us, we cannot ﬁnd that the h'ral court

abused its discretion. It was Keith’s burden to establish that he was unavoidably

prevented ﬁom obtalmng Yezzo’s personnel ﬁle and there is srmply no 1nd1cat10n

other than pure speculation that he would have been unable to obtain Yezzo’s file

through a pubhc records request. Aswe have found that the trial court d1d notabuse

its discretion based on the public records request issue, we need not discuss the trial
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court’s separate finding reéarding cross-examination. - Therefore, -Keith-’e first
assignment of error is overruled. |
Second Assignment of Error

{1]34} In Keith’s second assignment of error, he argues that the tr1a1 court
a erreﬁeously rejected Keith’s claim of a Brady violation in this case. Brady Vi
Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). '

'{1]35} The Supreme _Court of the United States has held that there are three
esscutial components of a Brady vielation: ' '1) ‘the- State either willfully or
inadvertently suppressed:eyidence, 2) t‘tle evideace was favorable to the' accased,

and 3) there was resulting prejudice. Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263 (1999).

{4136} On appeal, Keith claims that the State at least inadvertently suppressed

Yezzo’s petsonnel file, that Yezzo's file contained evidence favorable to Keith as it

was lmpeachment evidence of a w1tness he cha;ractenzed as“critical,” and he argues

that absent Yczzo 8 testjmony the ev1dence ]mkmg Kelth to the crime was mm1ma1 :

{1]37} The State counters by statmg that even assuming the ev1dence ‘was
favorable to Keith, and even assummg it had beén inadvertently suppressed by the
State, the information contamed in Yezzo s personnel file would not have changed
the eutcome of this case. The State maintains that the statements in Yezzo’s
personnel file that .Keith _argues. are damaging were statements made by coworkers

and catalogued by administrators, making the statements _hear‘sa;;r within hearsay and
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inadmissible at trial evén if they were discovered. The State also contends thatKeith |

could not introduce the statements anyway as they were improper character

evidence pursuant to Evid.R. 608(B).

{138} In our own review of the matter, even if we assumed without ﬁndmg,l

that the State madvertently suppressed Yezzo’s personnel ﬁle and gven. if we

assumed that Yezzo’s personnel file contained evidence favorable to Ketth, we

| absolutely could not find in the circumstances of this case that prejudtce resulted

. here. Keith may claim that Yezzo was a crmcal witness tymg him to the crime, but.

Yezzo provided testimony regarding a license plate number thst_ was elicited )

elsewhere sueh as- through the testimony of Patrolman Edwaid ‘Wilhite of the
Crestline Pohce Department and David Barnes of BCI and she provrded hnnted

probattve testnnony regarding the tires at the scene (T r. At 424, 478-79). In fact,

Yezzo actually provided one key piece of evidence for the defense, bemg that the

footprrnts taken from the scene d1d not match later- acqmred footwear ﬁ'om Kelth

{139} A thorough review of the transcnpts further reveals that the primary

testimony linking Keith to the crime was from Warren and Smathers. Warren
sp ecifrcalty identified Keith at trial as the man who shot him. As he woke up in the
hospital after the shooting, Warren rennembered the name “Kevin” as the person
who shot him, He later gave the last name “Kei ” when presented with possible

last names of the shooter. Warren also recalled specific discussions on the night of
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the murder thét the ﬁ_lan who came to the house was Kevin Keith and that he héd A
been part of a drug bust recently, which was actually true of _Keifh,' ;g-riving further
crédjbﬂity to Warren’s identification. Then, Warren also- picked Keith out of a
photo lineup. Warren was thus able to identify Keith through multiple means as the
shodter. | | o |
{140} Furthermore, Nancy Smathers identified Keith at trial as the man she
saw getting stuck while trying to leavé the scene. Smathers also testified that the
dorne light did Iiot work on the car Keith was driving, a;ld that the license plate light
did not w":)rk.. When the car Keith was using was seized, both of thosé things weré.
fouqd.to be ﬁue, corroborating her story, and also adding credibility to Smatliers’

. eyewitneés identification. Smathers’ testimony dlone links Keith to the car, even if
Yezzo had never tesﬁﬁeci at all in this case. Moreovér,‘a bullet casing lwas-fomd :
near the area where Keith picl;ed his girlfriend up from work that matched the bullet
casings from the orime scene.

{941} Over fhe years in his' munerous appeals and post?conviction petitions
Keith has challenged many aspects of his case and the evidéﬁce against hjﬁ, but one
fact remains clear, the evideﬁce against Keith was simply cwerwhe:]x_nin"g.9 Based

on fhe record we cannot find that, even assuming Yezzo’s personnel file was

® Both at his trjal and following his convictions Keith has strongly pursued the defense that another man
committed the killings, spacifically Rodney Melton. That theory was presented at trial, along with multipls
other individuals the defense contended were the potential killers. Rodney Melton, along with the others, -
actually testified for the jury to sée and hear end the jury rejected the defense’s theories.
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suppressed, and that it contained information favorable to Ketth, there is no

reasonable possibility that the information contained in Yezzo’s file would have

-made any difference in the outcome of this case.!®
{942} For- all of these reasons, Keith’s second assignmeﬁt “of error is
overruled.

Third Assignment of Error

{443} In Keith’s third assignment of error, Keith argues that the trial court -

erred b}-'. “striking” the filing of Keith’s successor post-conviction p'etitior_L and his
actual “Motion for New Trial.” | | | |

{444} As we have found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in
denyiﬁgr Keith leave to file a new trial motion, any error in striking the actpal ﬁoﬁon
itself would be moot, and we will not further addréss it,

{445} Asto Keith’s claims that the trial court improperly struck his successor
post-conviction petit'tbn at the saﬁé tinie his “Motion for New Trial”_wgs striél;gn,
the record simply does not support this statement. The trial court’s October 31,
2016, judgmt;,nt eniry only stafes that “the Motion for New Trial * * * cannot be

deemed to have been filed until the Court grants the Defendant leave to file such

19 Although Keith presepted a case out of the Huron County Common Pleas Court that found otherwiss, the
facts of that case, from what liitle we have available, indicate that Yezzo’s testimony was absolutely critical
in reopening a cold case and convicting the defendant, Those circumstances are not remotely present here.
Further, one of the findings of Yezzo was clearly favorable to Keith in this matter, indicating perhaps a strong
desire by defense counsel not to challenge Yezzo’s credentials. T )
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motion.” The trial court made no mention of the successor petition for post-

conviction relief. If we assumed that the trial court’s entry “striking™ the “Motion

for New Trial” also “struck” the successor post-conviction petition and effectively

dismissed it, then the prc;pel_' time 1o appeal that dismissal would have been within
30 dayé. of the trial court’s October 31, 2016, judgment eniry.

{946} However, Keith did file 2 “Motion to Supplement Motion for Leave to
File Delayed Motion for New Trial and Successor Peti.t'ibn for P;Jst-Conﬁcﬁon
Relief Under R.C. § 2953.23" after his “Motion for a New Trial” was “stricken.”
When the trial court d_en'icd'Kéith’s'_“Motioﬁ for Leave” the trial court’s judgment
entry stated only that Keith’s “Motion for Leave” was denied. The entry does not
ﬁak_e any final determination w1th regard to the. “Succéésor Petition for Post-

‘Conviction Relief.” Thus there is no final judgment dismissing this issue before

‘this Court to review, and any argument pertaining to it is not ripe.l! Accordiﬂgly,

Keiths third assignment of error is overruled. |
Conclusion

{947} For the foregoing reasons Keith’s assignments of error are overruled

1! We note that while it appears the trial court has not officially ruled on Keith’s successor petition for post-
conviction relief, the argments are the same as they are in the motion for anew trial, thus there is little merit
to any farther proceeding on the matter. :
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‘and the judgment of the Crawford County Common Pleas Court is affirmed.
' Judgme&t Affirmed
PRESTON, P.J. and ZIMMERMAN, J., concur.

Hlr
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF GHIO MWop S
- THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT con Sty
CRAWFORD COUNTY "“MRrnpisie
. (28 o1 - .

STATE OF OHIO,

- PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE, ~ CASENO. 3-17-01
Y.
- KEVIN A. KEITH, ' "JUDGMENT
- e o= A".. ",......---. P R - B T T AEN‘TRY--- B
. DEFENDANT-APPELLANT. .

l.?o;_- the réasons stated in the o'pinion of this Cc;urt, the assignmei}ts of error
are overruled and it is the judgnien_t and order o_f this Court that the judgment of the
. u-ia_l court is afﬁrmed with costs assessed to App_e]iant for which judgment is hé:reby
reﬁdered. The cause is hereby remanded to the trial court for 'execuﬁon of the
judgment for costs. |

It is-further ordered that the Clerk of this Court certify a-copy of this Court’s
judgment entry and opinion to the trial court as the mandate préscribed by AppR.
| 27, and serve a copyﬂof. ﬂ:u'é Court’s judgment entry and opinion on each party to the

proceedings and note the date of service in the docket. See App.R.30.

DATED: gune 26, 2017
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Kevin A. Keith ' %

Upon consideration of the jurisdictional memoranda filed in this case, the court
declines to accept jurisdiction of the appeal pursuant to S.Ct.Prac.R. 7.08(B)(4).

(Crawford County Court of Appeals; No, 3-17-01)

—
Maureen O*Connor
Chief Justice

The Official Case Arnouncement can be found at htip:/Avww.sup rcmecourt.oﬁio.gov/RODfdﬂcs/
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